Public Document Pack

DEVELOPMENT PLAN PANEL
Meeting to be held REMOTELY on
Tuesday, 19th January, 2021
at 1.30 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
B Anderson
C Campbell
A Carter
C Gruen
J McKenna
N Walshaw (Chair)
S Arif
D Collins
R Finnigan
L Mulherin
K Ritchie

Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of
the meeting.
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=450&MId=10200&Ver=4

Agenda compiled by:
Natasha Prosser
Governance Services
Telephone: 37 88021

Head of Strategic Planning:
Martin Elliot
Tel: 0113 37 87634
Produced on Recycled Paper

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and
public will be excluded)
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1

To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.

2

To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.

3

If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:

Item
No
3

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstance shall be specified in the
minutes).

4

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

6

MINUTES

7 - 18

To agree the minutes of the meetings held
Tuesday 3rd November 2020, and Friday 11th
December 2020, as a correct record.
7

LOCAL PLAN UPDATE
The report of the Chief Planning Officer provides
the latest update on the LPU and provides Panel
members with the emerging position on possible
future policy approaches within the LPU on topics
that have so far not been considered. Topics
include flood risk, sustainable infrastructure
(including HS2, digital connectivity, mass transit
and Leeds Bradford Airport) and strategic placemaking. Information is set out within the main
body of the report including relevant policy
background, possible future policy approaches and
questions to be raised at consultation.
It is then proposed to bring together the draft
consultation material together, in time for the
March meeting of Development Plan Panel.

19 42

Item
No
8

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
OPEN CONSULTATION - SUPPORTING
HOUSING DELIVERY AND PUBLIC SERVICE
INFRASTRUCTURE AND CHANGES TO
PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS
The report of the Chief Planning Officer considers
a current Government consultation in relation to 3
areas of the planning process. The consultation
focuses on three main areas;
•

Supporting housing delivery through a new
national permitted development right for the
change of use from the Commercial,
Business and Service use class to
residential.

•
Supporting public service infrastructure
through the planning system.
•
Consolidation and simplification of existing
permitted development rights
For each of these 3 areas a number of questions
are set out for consultation response. This report
provides a summary of each of the 3 areas, with an
overall response. Appendix 1 lists consultation
questions and detailed responses.
9

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
To note the date and time of the next meeting as
Tuesday 2nd March 2021, at 1:30 pm.

43 54

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not
present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take
place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those
proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available
from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a) Any published recording should be accompanied by
a statement of when and where the recording was
made, the context of the discussion that took place,
and a clear identification of the main speakers and
their role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording
in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments
made by attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts; recordings may
start at any point and end at any point but the
material between those points must be complete.

2

a)
b)

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and
to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this
agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a)
b)

Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title.
Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete.

This page is intentionally left blank

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 6

Development Plan Panel
Tuesday, 3rd November, 2020
PRESENT:

Councillor N Walshaw in the Chair
Councillors B Anderson, C Campbell,
A Carter, C Gruen, J McKenna, L Mulherin
and K Ritchie

26
Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals against refusal.
27
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There were no exempt items.
28
Late Items
There were no formal late items.
29
Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest.
30
Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S Arif and D Collins.
31
Minutes
RESOLVED- That the minutes of the Development Plan Panel meetings held on:
a) 8th September 2020, be approved as a correct record.
b) 13th October 2020, be approved as a correct record.
SERVICE UPDATE
The Head of Strategic Planning informed the Panel that as part of considerations for
the wider council savings and service reviews, a number of key members of staff
across strategic services had left the Council. Work would be undertaken in terms of
a proposed restructure and filling essential posts. The Panel in turn thanked those
members of staff for all their hard work and value to the planning process, and
wished them the best.
32
Local Plan Update (LPU)
The report of the Chief Planning Officer invited Members to consider a list of
proposed topic areas and possible policy approaches within the scope of the update,
which has an overall focus on the Climate Emergency and Biodiversity. The topics
are brought forward in two stages with today’s session considering reduced
emissions, heat networks, renewable energy generation and storage, place-making
and green infrastructure and biodiversity. On the 19 January 2021 patterns of
growth, infrastructure and flood risk will be considered (the commissioning of a new
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment is underway and will form options for food risk
moving forward).
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January 2021

Page 7

A first consultation draft of the LPU will be presented for consideration at the Panel
meeting in January 2021, which will align with the “Regulation 18” consultation stage
of plan-making. Members were invited to comment on the scope of the document as
part of the first round of statutory consultation and the report sets out the initial
version, narrative, topic areas and wider policy links.
Appendices to the submitted report set out a summary of existing policies aimed at
addressing climate change as contained in the Local Plan.
The Group Manager (Policy and Plans) introduced the report, setting out the topic
areas and the clear focus of the Council on the Climate Emergency and the need for
policies to be reviewed in order to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2030. He
also set out an initial draft direction of travel for a series of topic areas, which will
assist in stimulating responses during the formal consultation, summarised as
follows:
Reducing Carbon from Buildings
Initial Draft Preferred Option: Require all development to be built to a zero carbon
standard.
Alternative Options:
 An incremental tiered approach,
 Prescribed improvements over and above building regulations,
 Requiring carbon off-setting of developments through renewables,
 Requiring a set proportion of energy to be derived from low carbon/renewable
sources.
Sustainable Construction
Initial Draft Preferred Option: Require a high standard of sustainable construction
for residential development as defined by a specific, nationally recognised
accreditation process.
Alternative Options:
 A ‘do nothing’ approach,
 Require a high standard but no rating system.
 Other approaches: Embedded Carbon model
Renewable Energy Generation
Initial Draft Preferred Option: To set targets which in turn enable the allocation of
suitable areas for generation.
Alternative Options:
 Identify sites without setting targets,
 To set criteria based policy for new sites and their consideration.
Heat Networks
Initial Draft Preferred Option: To retain existing policy and supplement with a
District Heating SPD
Alternative Options:
 Retain the existing policy position,

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January 2021

Page 8



Amend existing policies to give stronger focus to heat networks in new
developments.

Energy Storage
Initial Draft Preferred Option: A new policy which encourages energy storage
usage in identified areas. But with no established targets.
Alternative Options:
 A new policy with targets.
Place-making
Initial Draft Preferred Option: A new strategic policy which provides stronger hooks
for design, place-making and 20-minute neighbourhoods.
Alternative Option:
 Re-write existing policies to include greater signposting for existing and
proposed design guidance.
Green infrastructure
Initial Draft Preferred Option: Spatial Policy 13 and Policy G1 to be re-drafted to
strengthen existing designations, clarify increased provision and clearly set out the
role and function of GI in addressing the climate change agenda.
Alternative Option:
 A comprehensive re-evaluation and update of all GI policies.
Tree Planting and Replacement
Initial Draft Preferred Options:
 An approach which identifies new land for tree planting
 A revised tree retention policy which assesses carbon sequestration values
rather than tree numbers
Alternative Options:
 Pursue non-planning solutions
 Increase tree replacement to an ambitious target
 Do nothing and retain 3:1 existing replacement target.
Biodiversity
Initial Draft Preferred Option: That policy G9 is refined and allows for enhanced
improvements in the provision of net biodiversity.
Alternative Option:
 Do nothing, either retaining existing policy or using any framework set out in
the Environment Bill
In terms of the next steps, it was confirmed that topics of infrastructure, flood risk and
locations for growth would be presented at the Panel meeting in January 2021, as
well as the Consultation draft. Subject to approval, the Consultation will commence
in the spring.
The Panel discussed the following matters:
 Progress on the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). Barriers in terms
of local restrictions and holding events across communities. It was confirmed
that, in light of the pandemic, a bespoke response was needed now, seeking

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January 2021

Page 9
















views from community groups on a revised SCI prior to the Local Plan Update
being put forward for consultation. Additionally, challenges had been identified
with communities who do not usually engage with planning matters, and these
would need to be addressed to ensure the SCI will be accessible and
provides clarity to all members of the community.
Clarity on potential complications regarding the Local Authorities target in
meeting net zero carbon emissions by 2030, in comparison to West Yorkshire
Combined Authorities (WYCA) target of 2038. Members noted that the target
set by the LA was formed based on evidence. It was confirmed that liaison
with WYCA on their 2038 target was needed and that they expect significant
progress by 2030.
Clarity on the mechanisms in calculating carbon capture and tree
replacement. The exploration of further information would be collated in terms
of technology considerations and partnership work with universities.
Clarity on how compliance will be measured in terms of policies EN1 and
EN2.
The importance of looking at green infrastructure and biodiversity
requirements across new developments, particularly in urban areas in setting
clear targets.
Liaising with developers in order to meet the objectives of the preferred
options. The Chair highlighted the importance of a developer forum.
The viability in achieving net zero emissions. Following Reading Council
adopting a 0 zero carbon policy, Leeds will look at good practice elsewhere.
Additionally, a number of options as part of the consultation would be put
forward for developers to consider how achieving the net zero ambition would
be applied across a range of developments.
Heat network options with air and ground source heat pumps, and their role
and limitations in terms of on-site developments.
Considerations around the incorporation of hydrogen. It was confirmed that
energy storage facilities would not be in residential areas and would be well
connected to the grid. Whilst there was not a hydrogen grid, it has been
emerging as to how that works as a network.
To identify the effectiveness of farm land and protecting local food production.
The Head of Strategic Planning confirmed that a review of categorisations
maps was required, and the progression of the policy would be considered at
the Biodiversity and Food sub group.
Acknowledging the importance of place-making being for both people and
wildlife and the need for further detail around 20 minute neighbourhoods.

Councillor Carter left the meeting during discussion of this item.
The Panel broadly supported the proposed approaches as set out in the submitted
report.
In conclusion of the item, the Chief Planning Officer thanked Members for their
contributions in future proofing the city. Members’ comments would be built into
additional work and expanded on at the Panel meeting to be held January 2021.
RESOLVED –

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January 2021

Page 10

a) To note the contents of the report
b) To note that comments provided during discussions would help form part of
the draft policy scope of the Local Plan
33
Date and Time of Next Meeting
To note the date and time of the next meeting as Tuesday 19th January 2021 at 1:30
pm.
(The meeting ended at 15:05)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January 2021

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12

Public Document Pack
Development Plan Panel
Friday, 11th December, 2020
PRESENT:

Councillor N Walshaw in the Chair
Councillors B Anderson, C Gruen,
J McKenna, D Collins, R Finnigan,
L Mulherin, K Ritchie and P Wadsworth

34
Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals.
35
Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There were no exempt items.
36
Late Items
There were no formal late items.
37
Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests.
38
Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Andrew Carter, Salma Arif
and Colin Campbell.
Councillor Paul Wadsworth attended as substitute on behalf of Councillor Andrew
Carter.
39
Leeds Site Allocations Plan - Consultation on Remittal of 37 Policies to
the Secretary of State
The report of the Chief Planning Officer informed Members of the work undertaken
since the High Court Judgement relating to the Site Allocations Plan (SAP) statutory
challenge, and the requirements for the remittal of a specific number of SAP policies
to the Secretary of State for re-examination. The report also set out indicative
timescales. Members were asked to recommend to Executive Board that approval
be given to commence consultation on the proposed Main Modifications set out at
Appendix 7 of the submitted report.
The following had been appended to the submitted report:
o Appendix 1 – List of Sites within SAP affected by High Court Judgement and
returned to the Green Belt until re-examined
o Appendix 2 – Map showing location of allocations subject to SAP remittal
o Appendix 3 – Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) Main
Report
o Appendix 4 – Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement
o Appendix 5 – Sustainability Appraisal Addendum
o Appendix 6 – Draft Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) Addendum
o Appendix 7 – Proposed Main Modifications
o Appendix 8 – Equality Diversion Cohesion Integration Screening
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January, 2021

Page 13

The Principal Planner (Local Plans) and the Principal Planner (Major Projects) were
in attendance, and presented the report. The report explained that the Court has
ordered that the Council remit 37 Green Belt sites to the Secretary of State and the
Planning Inspectorate for further examination against up to date evidence and policy.
The following had been highlighted:
 The remainder of the SAP remains adopted and unaffected from the remittal
process;
 The SHLAA has been updated to 1st April 2020 and shows there is a 6.8
years’ worth of housing land supply;
 The unprecedented uplift in the city centre market has boosted the overall
picture of supply;
 The outstanding stock of planning permissions is at the greatest level ever;
 The Council has been in contact with landowners and their agents to collate
evidence in order to make informed decisions about how sites will contribute
to the future supply of housing in Leeds. Details of construction programmes
provided to the Council will be reflected in the final 2020 SHLAA;
 Table 1 of the submitted report details the Core Strategy and SAP
requirement – outlining a strong position without the need for the remitted
sites;
 Issues related to the overall supply and distribution against HMCA indicative
targets.
The Council had considered a number of options for a revised SAP within the
existing plan period to 2028, and three reasonable options had been identified for
remittal:
 Option 1: Propose all 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
 Option 2: Propose none of the 37 Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP
 Option 3: Propose some of the Green Belt sites as allocations in the SAP on
the basis they would help address housing shortfalls within individual Housing
Market Characteristic Areas (HMCAs)
The Councils Preferred Option was Option 2, because it had more positive effects
and fewer negative effects than the other alternatives. Option 2 was also in line with
Policy SP1 and SP6 of the Core Strategy. It was noted that Option 2 did not fully
address SP7 in relation to the distribution of housing land. Whilst it was
acknowledged that the proposed option did not require any changes to be made to
the SAP Habitats Regulations Assessment, the proposed deletion of the 37 sites
lessened the likelihood of significant effects on European Nature Conservation
designations.
Policy HGR1 of the adopted SAP requires a review to assess and address the need
for additional housing allocations and safeguarded land designations post 2023
following the adoption of the Core Strategy Selective Review.. The SAP Remittal
evidence shows there is sufficient land allocated for housing and identified
safeguarded land to comply with the Core Strategy Housing target to 2028. It was
confirmed that following the remittal process, it was anticipated that the Council
would be in a position to demonstrate that Policy HGR1 has been met without
additional need for allocations.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January, 2021

Page 14

The Panel were requested to consider the Main Modifications as set out in the
submitted report, and will be subject to a 6 week consultation.
The Panel discussed the following matters:
 Clarity on the position of sites HG2-43 (Horsforth Campus), HG2-26 (Scarcroft
Lodge) and HG2-150 (Land East of Churwell LS27) – whilst those listed are
Green Belt sites, this did not stop the determination of planning applications,
where exceptions applied or very special circumstances were evidenced;
 Progress on the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) – the interim SCI
has been formed via discussions with an engagement group. It was the
intention to bring forward the full SCI before Panel Members subject to other
approvals;
 HMCA targets and including the supply of houses between 2012 – 2017 and
windfall sites – it was confirmed this information would be included in a
background document to provide further clarity;
 Review of Policy SP7 – SP7 will be reviewed under the Local Plan update and
considerations relating to the climate emergency will be able to inform
planning for housing, and where that goes post 2028;
 A Member requested a breakdown in figures on the distribution of completed
dwellings (by HMCAs) in terms of Greenfield and Brownfield sites specifically
for Morley North and Morley South. It was confirmed this information would be
provided to the Member outside of the meeting;
 Oversupply in the city centre and lack of greenspace across Inner City areas;
 Clarity on the legal position regarding developers challenging the Council, in
terms of costs related to work undertaken on the proposed remittal of the 37
sites – it was noted that developers had been provided with an opportunity
during the 6 week statutory challenge period of the Legal Challenge, to
engage in the process. As such, no challenges had been received;
 Deliverability and availability of brownfield sites, and work around maximising
viable schemes in relation to affordable housing with developers.
RESOLVED –
a) That the contents of the report, including appendices 1 – 8, together with the
reason for Main Modifications, and related discussions during the meeting be
noted;
b) That Executive Board be recommended to approve the Main Modifications for
public consultation, along with the supporting Sustainability Appraisal
Addendum and all necessary technical background documents.
40
HMO, PBSA and Co-Living Amenity Standards SPD
The report of the Chief Planning Officer, informed Members that a Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to establish space, light and
ventilation (amenity) standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and
Purpose-Built Student Accommodation (PBSA). Proposals for a new co-living model
are beginning to emerge in Leeds and there is an opportunity for standards to be
introduced for this form of living through the new SPD.
Appended to the submitted report included the draft SPD (at Appendix 1) and the
Consultation Plan (at Appendix 2).
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January, 2021

Page 15

The Senior Planner (City Development) introduced the report, explaining there had
been a growing concern in Leeds regarding the standard of living for residents and
the impact on health and wellbeing; becoming more prevalent over the duration of
the pandemic. Preparations included cross Council working and informal
engagement / raising awareness with key stakeholders, the universities, PBSA
providers and their representatives and landlords’ groups. The following had been
highlighted:
PBSA
 Sets space standards for 2 types of student accommodation – ‘cluster flats’
and self-contained studio units;
 Sets space requirements for different facilities in the development;
 Considerations around the overall quality and layout of bedrooms;
 Ensure all habitable rooms have access to daylight;
 Sets standards for ventilation;
 Privacy and amenity space considerations.
HMOs
 HMOs are not subject to NDSS requirements in the Core Strategy Policy H9
as the fall within the C4 or sui generis use class – there is increased
awareness that landlords are letting very small rooms;
 Whilst the SPD relates to new conversions only, the private sector housing
team are preparing space guidance that will help coordinate a joined up
approach;
 The space required varies depending on which element of the HMO is shared
and the number of bed spaces;
 Sets standards for access to light and ventilation;
 Ensure bedrooms have a good level of outlook.
Co-Living Proposals
 Key considerations around minimum room sizes, the levels of communal
facilities / space and the distribution of the shared facilities;
 The standards for light and ventilation follow those set out for PBSA
developments;
 Co-living developments will provide garden space and outside space;
 Schemes to provide a good level of outlook and not affecting privacy of
neighbouring properties.
The Panel discussed the following matters:
 Clarity on Permitted Development (PD) Rights – it was confirmed that
although a prior approval for PD could not be affected, the Government had
introduced, with effect from 1 July 2021 that all PD schemes to nationally
accord with the Nationally Described Space Standards which are equivalent
to Policy H9;
 Parking concerns – it was confirmed that a separate adopted Leeds Parking
SPD addressed HMO requirements, and can be referenced in the SPD.
Additionally, the Transport SPD was still in the consultation process;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January, 2021

Page 16




Addressing energy efficiency requirements – this would be captured as part of
the Local Plan Update, and can be referenced in the SPD;
Good examples of PBSA accommodation had been acknowledged, whilst
bedroom sizes remained a concern for Members.

RESOLVED –
a) To note the contents of the report, the plans for formal public consultation, as
well as related discussions during the meeting;
b) To endorse the draft SPD for public consultation.
41
Leeds City Council Response to Government Consultation on Raising
Accessibility Standards for New Homes
The report of the Chief Planning Officer outlined the approach to accessible housing
in Leeds, the Government’s consultation proposals and the Council’s response to the
consultation.
The consultation paper seeks views on how to raise the accessibility of new homes,
in order to meet Government’s objective to ensure that there is enough suitable
housing where it is needed. 5 broad policy options have been developed, and range
from waiting to see the full impact of recent planning policy changes, to mandating
higher standards at a national level.
Appended to the submitted report included the Draft Council Response.
The 5 policy options are outlined as follows:
 Option 1 – Consider how recently revised planning policy on the use of
optional technical standards impacts on delivery of accessible housing.
 Option 2 – To mandate the current M4(2) requirement on Building Regulations
as a minimum standard for all new homes, with M4(1) applying by exception
only where M4(2) is impractical and unachievable. M4(3) would apply where
there is a local planning policy in place in which a need has been identified
and evidenced.
 Option 3 – Remove M4(1) altogether, so that all new homes will have to at
least have the accessible and adaptable features of an M4(2) home, M4(3)
would apply where there is a local planning policy in place in which a need
has been identified and evidenced. This would mean no new homes could be
built as M4(1).
 Option 4 – To mandate the current M4(2) requirement in Building Regulations
as a minimum standard for all new homes with M4(1) applying be exception
only, a set percentage for M4(3) homes would also need to be applied in all
areas. So rather than local authorities setting a local planning policy for the
provision of M4(3), a defined and constant percentage would apply to all new
housing.
 Option 5 – Change the content of the mandatory technical standard. This
could be done by upgrading the statutory guidance to create a revised M4(1)
minimum standard. This revised standard could be pitched between existing
requirements of M4(1) and M4(2), adding more accessible features into the
minimum standard.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January, 2021

Page 17

The Senior Planner (City Development) introduced the report, informing Members
that the Government’s consultation deadline was 1st December and therefore a
response has already been submitted. It was confirmed that following comments
from the Panel, a final response will be sent to MHCLG.
Discussion focused on the 5 Policy Options (as outlined above), and the key
considerations. It was noted that the Council’s proposed response to the consultation
document concludes that Policy Option 4 is the most preferable as it will significantly
boost the delivery of accessible housing at a national scale.
The Panel discussed the following matters:
 Concerns in relation to achieving viability and potential loss of greenspace
and affordable housing contributions. It was noted that general viability
concerns had been addressed through the Planning White Paper;
 Clarity on how the set percentage will be achieved – it was confirmed that this
would be nationally set from Government and whilst the current requirement
for Leeds was 2%, there was potential for this to increase subject to viability
and the outcome of the Government;
 Concerns in relation to M4(1) and developers using this as a minimum
standard – it was confirmed that M4(1) would be used as a fall back subject to
M4(2) not being viable, and provided a basic level of accessibility. In addition
to this, the Head of Strategic Planning explained the response to Government
will be amended to include concerns expressed by Members, and whether the
Government can suggest any remedies, that may involve Local Authorities
being clear on exceptional circumstances when M4(1) is accepted.
RESOLVED –
a) To note the contents of the report and related discussions during the meeting;
b) To note Leeds City Council’s consultation response, with the inclusion of
Members concerns in relation to M4(1) and the preferred Policy Option being
Option 4.
42
Date and Time of Next Meeting
RESOLVED – To note the date and time of the next meeting as Tuesday 19 th
January 2021, at 1.30 pm.
(The meeting ended at 12:00 pm)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 19th January, 2021

Page 18

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Adam Harvatt. Tel:
0113 37 87634

Report of Chief Planning Officer
Report to Development Plan Panel
Date: 19th January 2021
Subject: Local Plan Update
Are specific electoral wards affected?

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion
and integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): ALL

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1.

The Leeds Local Plan sets the land use and spatial planning framework for how
Leeds will develop. The current Leeds Local Plan is a set of five Development
Plan Documents (DPDs) mainly covering the period between 2012 and 2028,
but with some policies covering up to 2033. The Local Plan and 17
Neighbourhood Plans together form the statutory Development Plan, which is
used, alongside the National Planning Policy Framework, to help direct
decisions on planning applications in Leeds.

2.

The main driver for an update of the Local Plan is the declaration of a Climate
Emergency in Leeds. Within the context of national planning guidance,
evidence and local priorities, it is crucial therefore that the Local Plan is kept up
to date and subject to regular review, to ensure it remains fit for purpose in
providing certainty for communities and investors within the context of reducing
carbon emissions and ensuring that the City is resilient to the impacts of a
changing climate.

3.

At the meeting of Development Plan Panel on the 3rd November 2020, Local
Plan Update topics relating to carbon emissions, renewable energy, green
infrastructure, biodiversity, and place-making, were presented and considered.
This report seeks to present the remaining topics of flood risk, sustainable
infrastructure (including HS2, digital connectivity, mass transit and the airport)
and strategic place-making.

Page 19

4.

Comments are sought on these topics with a view to bringing final drafts of the
consultation material to DPP on the 2nd March before seeking approval from
Executive Board on 17 March to undertake (Regulation 18) consultation on the
Local Plan Update. It is then anticipated that consultation will commence after
the Local Government Elections in May.

Recommendations
5.

Panel Members are asked to:

(i)

Consider and provide comments on the topics presented within this report.

Page 20

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

This is the latest update report on the Local Plan Update (LPU). This report
seeks to provide Panel members with the emerging position on possible future
policy approaches within the LPU on topics that have so far not been
considered.
These topics include flood risk, sustainable infrastructure
(including HS2, digital connectivity, mass transit and Leeds Bradford Airport)
and strategic place-making. Information is set out within the main body of the
report including relevant policy background, possible future policy approaches
and questions to be raised at consultation.

1.2

It is then proposed to bring together the draft consultation material together, in
time for the March meeting of Development Plan Panel, in a consolidated suite
of consultation papers, covering the following topics:
Consultation Paper
Emissions from Buildings
Renewable Energy

1.3

Topics Covered
and  Whole life carbon costs
 Reducing carbon emissions from
buildings
 Sustainable construction
 Renewable energy generation
 Heat networks
 Energy storage

Flood Risk

 Flood risk
 Sustainable Urban Drainage

Green Infrastructure






Place-making

 Strategic Place-making (previously
known as ‘Locations for Growth’.
 Local Place-making

Sustainable Infrastructure







Tree Planting
Tree Replacement
Biodiversity
Green space

High Speed 2
Leeds City Station
Mass Transit
Digital Infrastructure
Leeds Bradford Airport

The consultation will not fully prescribe what the LPU should conclude on a
particular matter as, at this initial formal stage in the plan making process, it will
use consultation to clarify the scope, seek support for particular options and
continue to develop an evidence base to justify the Council’s preferred options
in due course. The work that has informed this report therefore does not seek
to prejudge consultation on the scope of the LPU, rather it serves to help inform
it.

Page 21

1.4

Whilst it was agreed in November 2020 that a full suite of consultation
documents would be brought before Panel for this January meeting, it has been
considered that it would be more beneficial to ensure that Members are able to
consider the new topics of flood risk, sustainable infrastructure and strategic
place-making, in detail, consistent with how issues relating carbon emissions,
renewable energy, green infrastructure and local place-making were
considered in November 2020. This is not considered to impact on future
timescales with a full suite of consultation papers proposed to be presented to
Panel on the 2nd March, before seeking approval for consultation at Executive
Board on the 17th March 2021. It is then anticipated that consultation will
commence after the Local Government Elections in May.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Leeds Local Plan sets the land use and spatial planning framework for how
Leeds will develop. The current Leeds Local Plan is a set of five Development
Plan Documents (DPDs) mainly covering the period between 2012 and 2028,
but with some policies covering up to 2033. The Local Plan and 17
Neighbourhood Plans together form the statutory Development Plan, which is
used, alongside the National Planning Policy Framework, to help direct
decisions on planning applications in Leeds.

2.2

The Core Strategy DPD sets the overall strategic framework for development
in Leeds and is underpinned by other DPDs covering Natural Resources and
Waste and site allocations as well as saved policies in the Unitary Development
Plan. A number of years have passed since the Core Strategy (CS) was
adopted in 2014. It was subject to an update in 2019, which was selective and
focussed largely on housing, leaving much of the remainder untouched. The
Natural Resources and Waste DPD was adopted in 2013.

2.3

Within the context of national planning guidance, evidence and local priorities,
it is crucial therefore that the Local Plan is kept up to date and subject to regular
review and update, to ensure it remains fit for purpose in providing certainty for
communities and investors. Members will recall that all policies across the
Local Plan were reviewed to see if they needed to be updated and at a meeting
in July 2020 (postponed from March 2020) DPP agreed a scope for the Local
Plan Update which focussed initially on the Climate Emergency in Leeds.

2.4

Following the declaration of the Climate Emergency in March 2019, in
September 2019 Council approved that: “To reflect the Council’s declaration of
Climate Emergency … Council commits to including measures to address the
Climate Emergency in subsequent Core Strategy Reviews. This should include
a strategic plan to deliver more trees in the city, a greater emphasis on how
new housing developments are accessed i.e. not solely by the private car and
a clear commitment to review Spatial Policy 12 of the Core Strategy relating to
growth at Leeds Bradford Airport, as a matter of urgency, and notes that the
Council has already committed to bringing a timetable to Development Plan
Panel this Autumn”.

2.5

Having set the broad scope of the Local Plan Update on 3 rd November 2020
Members of DPP considered potential future policy approaches on topics
related to climate change and renewable energy, green infrastructure and

Page 22

place-making. Issues relating to flood risk, infrastructure and strategic placemaking are raised with Panel members for the first time as part of this report.
2.6

The first regulatory milestone in the preparation of a Development Plan
Document such as the LPU, is an initial stage of public consultation (‘Regulation
18’ consultation) which, as Members were advised in July 2020, is scheduled
to start in Spring 2021 (subject to the necessary approvals being in place). The
purpose of this stage is to ascertain views on what matters the LPU will need
to consider and address i.e. its scope. The relevant regulations specify that, as
part of the plan preparation process, we must invite representations on what
the Local Plan ought to contain. Whilst being mindful of the need to not prejudge the outcome of that consultation, it is considered that it would be helpful
to respondents and speed up the process if the Council’s general preferred
scope of policies (with initial detail of what they are to contain) was used as a
means of generating responses to the Plan at that early stage. This would help
shorten the timescale for preparation, focus comments and in due course help
clarify the tests of soundness that are required by national policy.

2.7

As the LPU is a statutory plan-making process it is important to note that issues
raised during forthcoming formal consultation stages, in addition to the focused
input of specialist bodies (for example infrastructure providers and the West
Yorkshire Combined Authority - WYCA), will also inform the future direction and
content of the LPU. The preparation of the LPU is an iterative process and
possible options will narrow and refine in response to emerging information and
evidence as work on the plan progresses. This work will also need to take into
account new evidence and Government legislation as it emerges.

3.

Main issues
The Scope of the Plan

3.1

From the City Council’s perspective, it has been considered at both July and
November 2020 sessions of Development Plan Panel, that the Council’s
preference for the scope of the Local Plan Update should be on the Climate
Emergency. It was considered also that this should include policies directly
related to carbon emissions, as well as topics directly related to the climate
emergency such as the effects of climate change (including flood risk), the
infrastructure that is required to enable sustainable travel and sustainable
locations for growth.
National Context

3.2

It is recognised that local policy must sit within (and be in accordance with) a
national policy context as set by legislation and national guidance and that this
current framework is being subject to significant changes (including the
proposals set out in the Planning White Paper). Consequently, these changes
(to the planning system and building regulations) may impact on the ability of
local authorities to establish bespoke climate agenda measures within their
Local Plans. At present it is considered that the NPPF has not necessarily
reflected the Government’s aspirations to meet net zero carbon emissions by
2050 and plans for how this agenda is embraced within a new planning system
are not yet clear. As such, the Council is proposing to advance work on its LPU
to help meet the climate agenda in Leeds, whilst recognising that responding to

Page 23

future changes to the planning system will be crucial in any future Local Plan
preparation.
Topic Areas and Policy Exploration
3.3

Below is presented summary information on the policy topic areas of flood risk,
strategic place-making and sustainable infrastructure, to compliment the topics
considered by members of DPP on the 3rd November.

3.4

Flood Risk

3.5

In summary, the Council has rigorous processes in place to ensure that
development avoids flood risk where ever possible and that development is only
approved when there is adequate mitigation in place. In cities which have
developed historically on the floodplain, it is important to consider other factors
alongside flood risk, specifically the need to focus investment in the urban area
and reduce pressure for release of Green Belt land. The Council has a strategy
for managing flood risk in the form of the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. This
defines the levels of flood risk throughout the whole district and gives detailed
advice on how to manage it.

3.6

The National Planning Policy Framework requires planning authorities to avoid
siting development in flood risk areas, however it acknowledges that this is not
always possible because of the nature of places and so where development is
necessary, planning authorities should be sure that it will be safe without
increasing flood risk elsewhere by carrying out an “Exceptions Test”.

3.7

Leeds and its outlying settlements grew historically around the rivers Aire and
Wharfe. It is therefore challenging to avoid development in the flood plain as
this meets many other planning objectives for prioritising brownfield land,
accessibility and inclusive growth and the need to take into account other policy
considerations such as protecting the Green Belt. The planning system
therefore has to balance competing conflicts in enabling investment and growth
whilst having regard to the effects of climate change.

3.8

Where applications in the urban area have passed the “Exceptions Test” by
demonstrating wider sustainability benefits that outweigh the risk, for example
the need for regeneration, efficient use of brownfield land or to ensure our
centres remain viable, approvals for planning permission are granted when
there is adequate mitigation in place. This includes ensuring buildings are built
to flood resilient standards and that sustainable drainage systems are
incorporated where ever possible. Developers are also encouraged to lay out
development so that open uses are located in the most risky parts of the site
and the built development avoids those areas. For sites with flood risk issues
or any site which is over 1 hectare in size a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is
required to be submitted with the planning application. The FRA is assessed by
colleagues in the Council’s Flood Risk Management section who advise
whether the development will be safe.

3.9

This has been the strategic approach that has underpinned the Core Strategy
and Natural Resources and Waste DPDs as well as setting the framework for
the allocation of land. The Council has worked closely with the Environment
Agency in seeking to draft policies and deliver safe development.

Page 24

3.10 The Council has delivered Flood Alleviation Schemes which reduce the risk and
impact of flood events. Future schemes are also programmed in to reduce flood
risk across many areas in Leeds. The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment (SFRA) 2007 supplements the Environment Agency maps of flood
risk and maps areas of flood risk from watercourses as follows:
Flood risk in the UK is divided into different zones according to the probability
of flooding. These flood zones do not take account of any defences and they
don’t include the possible impacts of climate change. The flood zones are as
follows:
Zone 1 Low Probability

Land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual
probability of river flooding.

Zone 2 Medium Probability

Land having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in
1,000 annual probability of river flooding;

Zone 3a High Probability

Land having a 1 in 100 or greater annual
probability of river flooding;

Zone 3b The Functional
Floodplain

Land where water has to flow or be stored in
times of flood. Usually with a 1 in 20
probability of river flooding

The functional floodplain is shown in appendix 1.
3.11 Rationale for an Enhanced Policy Framework
3.12 MET Office statistics show that winters in the UK have got 12% wetter over the
last 60 years and they predict that rainfall is likely to rise by a further 20% by
2070, with an increase in rainfall intensity leading to 20% more flash flooding.
In short, we know that climate change is getting worse and we know that flood
risk events are increasing. As such, it is important to explore how new planning
policy could address and respond to this issue, in order to ensure that the
balance between development and flood protection is right.
3.13 Leeds SFRA
3.14 Leeds Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) was completed in 2007 and
provides a comprehensive overview of the river and drainage systems across
the district and associated flood risks. Since the SFRA was completed there
have been significant changes, such as the delivery of the Flood Alleviation
Scheme (FAS), as a consequence the document needs to be updated. This is
a significant and technical piece of work and the updated version will be used
to inform the policies in the Local Plan Update. It is anticipated that this should
be available by early summer 2021. The updated SFRA will provide further
technical advice on dealing with the flood risk issues listed below. Until it is
available we have sought to scope what the issues are without providing a
detailed range of policy options at this stage.
Avoiding Development in Flood Risk Areas

Page 25

3.15 The National Planning Policy Framework requires that planning authorities take
a sequential approach to allocating sites in our Local Plans and to planning
applications for sites that are not allocated in the development plan. When
development is proposed in a flood risk area, the applicant has to demonstrate
that they have passed the ‘Sequential Test’, this shows that they have looked
for other reasonable, alternative sites in a lower flood risk zone and they can
only proceed if they have shown that there are no other alternatives. If the site
is in a high flood risk zone (zone 3a), they may also have to pass an Exceptions
Test, which shows that the development will have sustainability benefits that
outweigh the flood risk and that it will be safe for the lifetime of the development
with safe access and egress.
3.16 The aim is to minimise development out of medium and high flood risk areas
(Flood Zones 2 and 3) and other areas affected by other sources of flooding
where possible. Only where there are no reasonably available sites in Flood
Zones 1 or 2 should the suitability of sites in Flood Zone 3a be considered,
taking into account the flood risk vulnerability of the proposed land use and
other policy considerations.
3.17 If the site is proposed for a ‘more vulnerable’ use such as residential and is in
a high flood risk zone (zone 3a), it may also have to pass an Exceptions Test,
which shows that the development would provide wider sustainability benefits
to the community that outweigh the flood risk and the development will be safe
for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing
flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.
3.18 This approach forms the basis of flood risk policy in our current policies in the
Natural Resources and Waste Local Plan (NRWLP), the Core Strategy and
Supplementary Planning Guidance. However, in the context of an increasing
threat of flood risk as a result of climate change, it is important that we consider
our existing policy framework and how it balances the needs for sustainable
development. The Local Plan Update provides an opportunity to bring all the
flood risk policies together with policies for sustainable drainage and review
their effectiveness in the light of climate change and the updated SFRA.
3.19 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:


Is the current policy approach to balancing new development and flood risk
correct, so that development meets needs in the right places?

Functional Floodplain
3.20 The NPPF requires that we should manage flood risk by ‘safeguarding land
from development that is required, or likely to be required, for current or future
flood management’.
3.21 Policy in the NRWLP is to safeguard land for flood storage, in zone 3b, as
shown in the SFRA. In those areas only water compatible uses and essential
infrastructure is permitted. We are currently updating the SFRA and this will
have a critical role to play in defining and identifying functional floodplain, zone
3b. This includes taking account of revised guidance from the Environment
Agency and considering the impacts that that has on all parts of Leeds. It is
noted that FAS 2 is also looking for opportunities to store flood water.

Page 26

3.22 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:


Do you have a view on the role of the functional flood plain within urban
areas and how it should be managed?

Surface Water Flooding and Sustainable Drainage
3.23 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) are designed to control surface water
run off close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as closely as possible.
One of their uses is to reduce the causes and impacts of surface water flooding
(sometimes referred to as flash flooding). SuDS include a number of different
practices or mechanisms designed to drain or soak up surface water in a more
sustainable (and natural) approach to the conventional practice of draining
water run-off through a pipe into a sewer. Practical examples include
soakaways (draining water through permeable surfaces into the ground) and
ponds (draining water into a surface water body).
3.24 SuDS capture rainfall, allowing as much as possible to evaporate or soak into
the ground close to where it fell, then conveying the rest to the nearest
watercourse to be released at the same rate and volumes as prior to
development. This also has the benefit of reducing pollutants, such as metals
and hydrocarbons from roads and car parks. Water entering a local watercourse
is therefore cleaner and does not harm wildlife habitats. SuDS can provide a
valuable amenity asset for local residents and create new habitats for wildlife.
Any problems with the system are quicker and easier to identify than with a
conventional system and are generally cheaper and more straightforward to
rectify. SuDS can also provide passive cooling which helps to mitigate the effect
of temperature rise due to climate change.
3.25 The NPPF states that major developments should incorporate sustainable
drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be
inappropriate (para 164 c)). This is the approach taken in NRWLP Policy Water
7 and echoed in Section 12 of the Sustainable Construction SPD which seek
SuDS ‘wherever possible’.
3.26 The NPPG gives further guidance on what “inappropriate” means: ‘The decision
on whether a sustainable drainage system would be inappropriate in relation to
a particular development proposal is a matter of judgement for the local
planning authority. In making this judgement the local planning authority will
seek advice from the relevant flood risk management bodies, principally the
lead local flood authority, including on what sort of sustainable drainage system
they would consider to be reasonably practicable.’
3.27 The judgement of what is reasonably practicable should be made by reference
to the technical standards published by the Department for Environment, Food
and Rural Affairs and take into account design and construction costs.
3.28 The NPPG goes on to set out that expecting compliance with the technical
standards is “unlikely to be reasonably practicable if more expensive than
complying with building regulations”. Similarly, a particular discharge route
would not normally be reasonably practicable when an alternative would cost
less to design and construct.

Page 27

3.29 This means that, at present, we cannot ask for sustainable drainage if the
developer can show that a traditional system will be cheaper.
3.30 Given the many benefits of using SuDS against traditional systems, the Local
Plan Update needs to consider how the existing policy could be strengthened
to make the use of SuDS a firmer requirement for new development given its
benefits in addressing climate change, biodiversity and health and wellbeing
objectives. One option is to map infiltration rates to identify the areas that are
most suitable for SuDS and this would support delivery of SuDS in those
locations. Policy should also ensure that the proposed minimum standards of
operation are appropriate and that there are clear arrangements in place for
ongoing maintenance.
3.31 Another way to help manage surface water flooding is to identify the ‘source’
locations where heavy rainfall can lead to flooding at a downstream ‘receptor’
location. Additional measures to reduce the speed of surface water run off at
the source location, such as tree planting, can avoid the need for mitigation
downstream.
3.32 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:



Do you agree with our suggested approach to increasing the use of
sustainable drainage systems in new development?
Do you think identifying and implementing additional measures at source
locations would be a fair and effective approach to managing surface
water run off?

3.33 Permitted Development Rights and Management of Water and Nature
3.34 The paving over of front gardens can result in increased flood risk caused by
surface water runoff which is unable to drain naturally. Additionally, the loss of
vegetation (e.g. hedges) can contribute to loss of biodiversity and increased air
pollution in urban areas and can affect the character and appearance of
traditional streetscapes. It will be important to ensure that where landscaping
measures are introduced through new development these are not subsequently
lost through permitted development rights. Therefore the LPU will explore how
to limit permitted development rights for new development.
3.35 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:




Is it appropriate to consider how planning policy may limit permitted
development rights e.g. to maintain the use of porous materials and soft
and natural landscaping in new developments?
Whilst not subject of a grant of planning permission should the Council
consider how to control paving over front gardens and loss of soft and
natural landscaping in existing development?

3.36 Strategic Place-making
3.37 Previously referred to as ‘locations for growth’, this topic area seeks to explore
the sustainable pattern of development in Leeds by engaging with concepts
such as the 20 minute neighbourhood.

Page 28

3.38 The intention of the Local Plan Update is to adopt new planning policy that takes
Leeds toward carbon neutrality by 2030. For patterns of growth this means
guiding new development to locations that offer the best opportunity for active
travel (by foot or cycle) and by public transport so that travel by car is greatly
reduced. Seeking the “best opportunity” expresses the desire to optimise
carbon reduction through control of the location of new development, use of
appropriate density, efficient use of land and the creation of cohesive
neighbourhoods:
3.39 Objective: to minimise carbon emissions by guiding new development to
locations that offer the best opportunity for active travel, for use of public
transport and for minimal use of private motor vehicles.
3.40 Current Policy
3.41 All DPDs have sought to provide a framework for sustainable and healthy
communities, having regard to quality of life and to protect and enhance the
environment. This is achieved through a strategic and spatial approach and a
suite of policies relating to the overall scale and distribution of development,
location, layout and fabric of places. Primarily, (through the Core Strategy) the
greatest levels of development are directed to the existing main urban area
(including the City Centre) and major settlements to avoid travel by private car,
as sustainable locations because these places have access to a range of
services via public transport and walking.
3.42 Current Core Strategy policy is structured around a Settlement Hierarchy of City
Centre, Main Urban Area, Major Settlements and Smaller Settlements; through
this, new development is channelled toward the urban areas. Policy SP1 is the
principal policy which guides development toward previously developed land,
town centre uses to centres and economic development towards identified and
suitable locations. It also expects regard to be given to the character of place
and the role of infrastructure including waterways, and protection of European
environmental designations.
3.43 Existing site allocations DPD already provide for a range of housing and
employment allocations and these “in principle” locations for development will
not be amended through the Local Plan Update. However, Policy H2 sets
locational criteria for non-allocated (i.e. windfall) housing sites. It expects new
development to be of a scale appropriate to the capacity of local infrastructure
and is to be read alongside Policy T2 which sets accessibility requirements for
new development with particular standards set out in Table 1 of Appendix 3 of
the Core Strategy. Additional criteria are applicable to green field sites
concerning the intrinsic value of the sites.
3.44 For new employment uses, Policy EC1 sets out preferential locational criteria
to guide the making of allocations for general employment land. These follow
Policy SP1 in giving priority to urban areas of the settlement hierarchy, to
regeneration areas, to existing employment areas and to complement housing
in major urban extensions. Policy EC2 sets out locations for offices, which
focusses on the City Centre and town centres, in accordance with national
policy recognising office as a town centre use.
3.45 The 20-minute Neighbourhood

Page 29

3.46 The 20-minute neighbourhood concept has become a focus for a new vision of
locational growth. The purpose of the concept is to ensure that neighbourhoods
support strong communities and local economies, recognising that easy and
safe walking and cycle access to services/facilities is good for health, and that
physical activity and less reliance on the private car reduces air pollution. This
approach to local growth and place making around service centres and hubs is
gathering support across the world and is an easily understood way of planning
for the way places change.
3.47 The Council’s draft Transport Strategy, as well as the Government’s recently
launched Active Travel Fund presents a real opportunity to create a lasting
change to how people move around Leeds. Installing infrastructure that
supports safe cycling and walking will not only have a positive impact on health
and wellbeing, it will also reduce emissions and be a transformative step
towards a more sustainable future. City Development and Public Health are
currently working on the development of a walking action plan for the city
covering key environmental priorities, and has led to the initiation of work to
start mapping walking routes across the city and partnership working to deliver
walkable/low-traffic neighbourhood schemes in priority neighbourhoods with
the aim to create safe, healthy spaces where communities can connect and
walking and cycling is the easiest most attractive option of movement.
Future Policy Options
3.48 For Leeds to meet its objective of minimising carbon emissions it is considered
that spatial growth, in line with the emerging Leeds Transport Strategy, should
follow a pattern of concentration particularly around the City and town centres
and with less development in relatively unsustainable locations, and promote
walkable neighbourhoods. It is also considered that this should also apply to
the location of general employment in appropriate locations.
3.49 It is therefore our preferred approach to introduce a new policy framework which
either alters SP1 and H2, or introduces a new strategic policy on this topic. It is
not considered necessary to alter policies relating to the making of allocations.
It is considered that the review of these policies would be best to take place
when new allocations are required.
3.50 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:



What does a ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ mean to you? Do you agree that
Leeds should aim to create 20 minute neighbourhoods?
How might Leeds’ planning policy support living in a City where you do not
need to own a car? Should Leeds introduce a presumption against cardependent development?

3.51 Sustainable Infrastructure
3.52 This topic covers the issues of HS2 and Leeds City Station, digital
infrastructure, mass transit and Leeds Bradford Airport. These topics are
directly related to the climate emergency as they relate to carbon emissions
from travel.
High Speed 2

Page 30

3.53 The railway network is key strategic infrastructure as part of the Leeds
economy, and in the decarbonising of transport. Over the next two decades
passenger numbers at Leeds Station are due to double, as more people choose
to travel by more sustainable forms of transport (NB pre-Covid-19 statistics).
Leeds Station will see significant investment, and High Speed 2 (HS2) and
Northern Powerhouse Rail have the potential to transform our intercity
connections.
3.54 We want to use the planning system to help us maximise the benefits that this
investment presents for Leeds and minimise any potential adverse impacts. As
many of the decisions lie outside of the Council’s direct control, this isn’t
something that local planning policy alone can achieve and needs therefore to
be delivered as part of wider partnerships. The principle of developing HS2,
the line that route takes, and the mitigation measures that are put in place as
part of its development are all matters that will be decided nationally. However,
we believe that local planning policy can have an important part to play in
helping to shape the development of Leeds Station and integrating the HS2 line
into our city. Good progress has already been made in taking this forward.
3.55 Whilst HS2 is referenced within various policy documents within the current
Local Plan, there is no specific policy in place to directly steer the development
of HS2 or land affected by the construction of the line. Similarly, whilst the
important role of Leeds Station is recognised within the current Local Plan,
existing policy does not reflect the latest proposals for significant development
to occur at the station.
3.56 Consequently, a new planning policy is proposed, which focusses particularly
on the redevelopment of Leeds Station and on the implications that HS2 would
have for the use of land. It is suggested that could help guide the growth and
development of Leeds Station, identify the development opportunities
associated with the new HS2 line, highlight opportunities for new green and
public spaces to be created alongside HS2, seek to ensure HS2 maximises the
potential contribution to climate change, outline the importance of supporting
and enhancing pedestrian, cycle and bridleway routes when developing HS2
and consider the opportunities for temporary ‘meanwhile’ uses to occur within
the HS2 construction boundary.
3.57 It is important therefore to support the role of Leeds Station as a key part of the
City Centre and in the longer term, realise the potential it holds to: enhance the
experience of those using the station, incorporating the new HS2 line and
Northern Powerhouse Rail upgrades and supporting the expected growth in the
number of passengers choosing to use more sustainable forms of transport.
We want to see the station form a ‘world class’ and welcoming entrance to our
City, which improves connectivity north-south and east-west across the city
centre, and complements the offer of the rest of the City Centre and the South
Bank. We want the energy efficiency of the station to be maximised, in line with
our overarching objective to address the climate emergency.
3.58 In addition, it is important to ensure that the potential social, environmental and
economic benefits of HS2 for Leeds, and the areas and communities around
the line, are capitalised on, and that any potential adverse impacts are avoided
wherever possible, and minimised or mitigated where not. We want to use the

Page 31

planning system to help support this where possible, recognising that consent
for the HS2 line itself would be granted through the hybrid Bill process.
3.59 Any future policy would not be about the principle of rail infrastructure
investment, nor the proposed HS2 scheme, its line of route or the mitigation
measures that HS2 Ltd are proposing. The LPU consultation will not provide
an opportunity to debate this as these matters are not determined by the Local
Plan. Instead, it will ask for people to consider how we use the planning system
to maximise the benefits that the redevelopment of Leeds Station and the HS2
line present for Leeds (and the wider sub-region) and minimise any potential
adverse impacts.
3.60 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:



Do you agree with the proposed way forward for a new policy on HS2 and
Leeds Station?
Should the policy consider issues such as development opportunities,
integration with the green space network and pedestrian and cycle routes?

Mass Transit
3.61 As reflected in the draft Transport Strategy, it is acknowledged that for the scale
of growth forecast in Leeds over the next 10-15 years there is insufficient urban
transport capacity to enable urban communities in the Leeds City Region to
access employment opportunities.
3.62 Transport infrastructure investment that increases peak capacity to the city
centre can help overcome this. Mass transit can fill the gap in public transport
provision between bus services and heavy rail, adding capacity to the key
corridors within the city region, making it easier for more people to access more
jobs. A city region mass transit solution will deliver the right blend of technology,
priority and capacity to move high volumes of people in the parts of our transport
network where demand is greatest. This is a crucial missing element of our
transport investment pipeline for corridors where heavy rail is not an option and
the capacity of bus network solutions is insufficient. As such, mass transit can
support the region’s aims of raising productivity, delivering inclusive growth, and
addressing the climate emergency through clean growth, all of which are
underpinned by a 21st Century transport system.
3.63 Whilst Mass Transit is not a planning initiative it will important that up to date
local policy is in place to ensure that Mass Transit can be supported and
delivered effectively, especially as it relates to key transport hubs and link
between neighbouring authorities, and that other associated benefits, such as
integration with the green space network and pedestrian and cycle routes are
factored in.
3.64 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:


Do you agree that the Local Plan Update should include a policy on Mass
Transit?

Leeds Bradford Airport

Page 32

3.65 Leeds Bradford Airport is a major economic driver for the Leeds City Region.
Current passenger numbers are approximately 4 million passengers per year
and the Department for Transport forecasts the passenger numbers to rise to 7
million passengers per annum (mppa) by 2030 (NB pre-covid predictions).
3.66 Leeds Bradford Airport (LBA) is already subject to a number of policies relating
to the designation of land and acceptable uses.
3.67 The airport is located within the Green Belt (Policy N32 of the Unitary
Development Plan) which is overlain by the Airport Operational Land Boundary
(AOLB) (Policy site proposal T30 14.2.7). Policy T30A of the UDP identifies the
development and uses considered to be acceptable in principle within the AOLB
“…subject to normal development control considerations for the operational
efficiency of the airport…”. This includes runways; staff, visitor and passenger
car parks; passenger and cargo terminal buildings; and administrative
accommodation for the airline companies. This development and the uses listed
by Policy T30A are acceptable in principle, notwithstanding the Green Belt
location of the airport.
3.68 Anticipating future growth of the airport, the Core Strategy (adopted in 2014)
provides a policy specifically relating to managing this growth. At the time of
writing the Core Strategy, the Airport Masterplan prepared by LBA as a
requirement of the Civil Aviation Authority sets out future passenger growth
projections and associated plans for the expansion of the airport in response to
these growth figures. Spatial Policy 12 of the CS was prepared as a policy
mechanism to manage that growth to ensure that future planning application/s
are prepared and assessed through identifying a criteria of considerations
outlined in the policy. The Airport Masterplan and associated Airport Surface
Access Strategy were revised in March 2017 following the CS adoption (“Route
to 2030: Strategic Development Plan and Surface Access Strategy).
3.69 Spatial Policy 12 provides clear criteria for assessing applications against
considerations which remain relevant and up to date since the policy was
adopted in 2014. However, views on whether the policy should be updated to
take more explicit account of the relationship between the airport and the Leeds
Climate Emergency are invited. Similarly, the way in which the airport fits with
the most recent national infrastructure guidance, which Government has
committed to update can be explored. Finally, the nature of the wider area, with
the neighbouring employment allocation and prospective rail halt are contextual
factors, which could be considered within an up to date policy.
3.70 In summary, whilst Spatial Policy 12 remains up to date and it is considered to
be fit for purpose as a planning policy for assessing applications for airport
development it is considered that there is value in seeking views on how it may
be amended against an updated context.
3.71 Proposed Draft Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:


Do you agree that Spatial Policy 12 is fit for purpose or do you think it
needs to updated and how?

Digital Infrastructure

Page 33

3.72 Access to reliable, high-speed data at work, at home and whilst in transit is
important for the continued success of Leeds. Studies suggest that digital
connectivity is now viewed by residents and businesses as being as important
as good transport links. Best City Priorities include the provision of ‘Sustainable
Infrastructure’, which includes digital infrastructure and increasing digital
inclusion.
3.73 The Leeds Inclusive Growth Strategy also identifies Leeds as a digital city in
particular promoting and growing the digital sector. The Strategy recognises
that digital connectivity is an essential part of the modern economy and
increasingly people are working in more flexible ways and that a smart digital
city provides one solution to congestion challenges. Leeds City Council has set
out an ambition to have the best connectivity in the UK and for all premises
across the district both residential and commercial to be able to access gigabit
capable services.
3.74 National guidance is supportive of improving digital connectivity, and guidance
notes are also issued to telecoms cable providers. Paragraphs 112 and 113 of
the NPPF set out support for improved connectivity as part of development
sites;
112. ‘Advanced, high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is
essential for economic growth and social well-being. Planning policies and
decisions should support the expansion of electronic communications
networks, including next generation mobile technology (such as 5G) and full
fibre broadband connections. Policies should set out how high quality digital
infrastructure, providing access to services from a range of providers, is
expected to be delivered and upgraded over time; and should prioritise full fibre
connections to existing and new developments (as these connections will, in
almost all cases, provide the optimum solution)’.
3.75 It is important to recognise that permitted development rights in relation to
existing sites largely for mobile phone coverage, are wide ranging and it is likely
these will be further widened.
3.76 The Core Strategy Spatial Policy 8 (SP8): Economic Development Priorities
provides an existing general hook supporting high quality communications as
below;
3.77 SP8 (ix) Support the advancement of high quality communications
infrastructure to foster sustainable economic growth and to enhance business
links subject to landscape, townscape and amenity considerations
3.78 SP8 is supportive of high quality communications infrastructure, however a new
single complementary policy which sets out criteria for new developments is
required to encourage digital infrastructure is considered and designed
sympathetically at an early stage, as part of site development.
3.79 It is important that new development sites are designed and built with good
connectivity from the outset, and this is not introduced later or at the end of a
development. Also that digital infrastructure is sympathetically designed as part
of site development as essential infrastructure. A connectivity plan as part of a
planning application is encouraged. The proposed policy would focus on

Page 34

improving digital connectivity for new sites and new developments only, the
main focus being full fibre or gigabit connection. However where new sites are
being developed all digital connectivity provision including mobile phone
coverage should be considered and designed as part of site development from
the outset.
3.80 Executive Board in December 2019 agreed the Full Fibre Network Programme
for Leeds to go through a new procurement process for a partner to build and
deliver full fibre connectivity to ensure the provision of the greatest amount of
coverage, coupled with the opportunity to extend connectivity further with
commercial investment within LCC’s financial envelope. Development of a
gigabit capable network provides the Council with an opportunity to influence
the digital infrastructure position of the city which will have positive effects for
businesses and residents across the district.
3.81 Questions for Regulation 18 consultation:



Do you agree that the LPU should contain a policy on digital
infrastructure?
Should the policy focus on residential development or include commercial
development as well?

Conclusions
3.82 These topics above supplement those previously brought to Panel in
November. As a whole they set a scope and a draft direction of travel, which
helps address the following 5 headline objectives:
(1) Reduce emissions and increase renewable and low carbon heat and
power: For new development, Leeds will have minimised energy demand
and met all demands for heat and power without increasing carbon
emissions, to allow Leeds to meet its climate emergency commitment of
zero carbon by 2030. This is supported by topics concerning:


reducing Carbon Emissions from Buildings (discussed at 3rd November
DPP) for example, by requiring all development to be built to a zero
carbon standard;



ensuring Sustainable Construction (discussed at 3rd November DPP) for
example, through setting clear standards;



Renewable Energy and heat generation and storage infrastructure
(discussed at 3rd November DPP) for example, through consideration of
mechanisms to increase the generation and storage of low carbon and
renewable heat and power both through stand-alone generation and
within new developments.

(2) Place-making: Leeds will have worked in the public interest, prioritising the
safety and well-being of people within a framework of long-term sustainable
development by allowing development that promotes safe, healthy and
resilient places, reflects the issues associated with inclusive growth and an
environment which leaves a positive legacy for all people. This is supported
by topics concerning:

Page 35



ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps adapt
to the impacts of climate change and balances development needs with
environmental constraints (discussed above) for example, through
policies on 20-minute neighbourhoods;



ensuring high quality design of places (discussed at 3rd November DPP)
for example, through good practice, standards and design guides that
helps ensure better quality, form and layout.

(3) Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity: Leeds will create new Green
Infrastructure (GI) (including Green Space and Natural Environment)
through the planning process, and identify, improve, protect and extend
existing GI to address the challenges of climate change and create a
healthy city. This is supported by topics concerning:


ensuring that local wildlife sites and nature conservation designations
are effective at protecting species and habitats and that new
development delivers appropriate levels of net gain for biodiversity
(discussed at 3rd November DPP);



ensuring a strong, clear and consistent approach to the delivery of new
green infrastructure as well as the enhancement and protection of
existing (discussed at 3rd November DPP) for example, through clearer
definitions of the types of GI expected to be delivered e.g. nature
conservation areas, trees, re-wilding, places for play, places for food
growing, roof gardens and hedges and how they work together;



ensuring stronger protection for trees (discussed at 3rd Nov DPP) for
example, through new land for trees, tree retention and replacement
which focuses on carbon value rather than number of trees.

(4) Flood Risk: Leeds will ensure that new developments are located and
designed to avoid, reduce and mitigate flood risk, increase biodiversity and
reduce the carbon footprint of risk reduction schemes through natural flood
solutions. This is supported by topics concerning:


ensuring that the Council’s policies are supported by up to date evidence
on flood risk (discussed above);



avoiding development in flood risk areas (discussed above) and
managing the functional flood plain;



reducing the speed of surface water run off through more sustainable
and natural drainage systems (discussed above) for example, through
standards and limits to the paving over of front gardens.

(5) Sustainable Infrastructure: Leeds will ensure the delivery of an accessible
and integrated transport system which focuses on public transport and
active travel, is worthy of its role at the heart of the Leeds City Region, and
supports communities and inclusive growth. This is supported by topics
concerning:

Page 36



preparing for and maximising the benefits that the national High Speed
2 rail infrastructure project may bring to the City, if built, for example
(discussed above) through shaping the development of Leeds Station,
integrating the HS2 line into our city and seeking opportunities for new
green and public spaces to be created alongside HS2;



preparing for any mass transit system that is provided in Leeds so that it
can align with wider spatial priorities and deliver wider benefits
(discussed above);



preparing for the growth of Leeds Bradford Airport and access to it in a
sustainable manner (discussed above);



supporting reliable, high-speed data at work, home and whilst on the
move, so that Leeds is a modern, resilient and efficient economy which
can support increased remote working (discussed above);



ensuring a sustainable strategic pattern of development that helps
reduce the need to travel by private car and positively promotes active
travel (discussed above) for example, through policies on 20-minute
neighbourhoods and place-making.

Next Steps
3.83 Subject to members views these topics will now be prepared for public
consultation in 5 topic papers. At its meeting on 2nd March Panel Members will
be asked to consider this material and recommend to Executive Board (at its
meeting on 17th March) that public consultation begins in May.
3.84 Following that consultation, and taking on board comments received, detailed
policies will be drafted for the next stage of the plan-making process i.e. the
draft submission plan (otherwise known as Publication stage). This will be
subject to further consultation before submission to the Secretary of State for
independent examination. Members will note that at draft submission plan
stage, policies can be given weight depending on the level of objection they
receive.
4.

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.2

The LPU is at an early stage of preparation and therefore consultation to date
has been limited. However, engagement has taken place with Development
Plan Panel, the Executive Member for Climate Change, Transport and
Sustainable Development and Panel Chairs on the need for a LPU and its focus
on the climate change emergency. In addition, as stated in para 2.4 above, Full
Council have already agreed that the Local Plan Update will focus on policies
which will assist Leeds in meeting its Climate Emergency objectives of being
net zero carbon by 2030.

4.3

Members of Development Plan Panel attended a workshop in February on what
policies are relevant to the climate emergency and how they may support the
Council’s trajectory to net zero by 2030. Following this, the initial scope of the

Page 37

LPU was brought before DPP in July for their consideration, with further details
on topic areas considered in November 2020.
4.4

It is the aspiration to consult on the scope of the Local Plan Update (as required
by Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
Regulations) in the spring 2021. It is recognised that such a consultation is likely
to take place under some form of pandemic restrictions that will make face-toface consultation and drop in events highly unlikely. In this eventuality it will be
crucial to ensure that all other forms of engagement (predominantly digital) are
maximised to ensure as high a rate of response as possible.

4.5

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.6

An EDCI is not required for this report. Appropriate EDCI screenings /
assessments will be undertaken in the course of the next steps noted in the
report.

4.7

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.8

There is a clear role for planning in delivering against all of the Council’s
priorities as established through the Best Council Plan. In particular it is
anticipated that the LPU will help deliver against the Council’s key strategies,
as follows:
Health and Well-being Strategy – through policies including the design of
places, quality of housing and accessibility and the integration of public
health infrastructure
Climate Emergency –managing the transition to zero carbon via policies
including: the design of places, the location of development, accessibility to
public transport, use of brownfield land, energy, supply, generation and the
efficiency of buildings
Inclusive Growth Strategy – through policies including the links between homes
and jobs, planning for the land use and infrastructure needs of key
economic sectors, the location of development, green infrastructure and
connectivity

4.9

Planning is relevant to the delivery of all the priorities in the Best Council Plan
and this role will be appraised and maximised as policies in the LPU are
progressed and implemented.

4.10 Resources, procurement and value for money
4.11 There are no specific implications to this report. However, the Local Plan
Update and accompanying evidence base is a resource intensive endeavour
which incurs additional cost, in terms of evidence base preparation and
consultation, at a time of increased budget pressure. In general, costs will be
met from within existing budgets. It is likely that prioritisation of the Local Plan
Update will require the re-prioritisation of other work within the work
programme.
4.12 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

Page 38

4.13 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
4.14 Risk management
4.15 The risk of not updating policies following the review of policies in accordance
with the provisions of Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and further set out in paragraph 33 of
the National Planning Policy Framework, (NPPF, 2019), is that there is an
increasing likelihood that policies contained within the Local Plan will be found
to be out of date. Under existing policy within the NPPF, should the most
important policies for determining planning applications be found to be out of
date, the presumption in favour of sustainable development dictates that
decision-making will be in accordance with the NPPF, rather than the Local
Plan.
4.16 Following the Council’s climate emergency declaration in March 2019, there is
an opportunity to enshrine the Council’s desire to reach net zero carbon
emissions by 2030 through new planning policies. However, without new
policies as set through a LPU, the Council’s ability to influence the carbon
emissions of new developments, beyond the provisions of national policy and
existing local policy may be limited.
4.17 The LPU needs to be based on up-to-date objective evidence which considers
in detail the feasibility, deliverability and viability of the Council’s policies. The
service will need to commission technical evidence base in this regard, which
is expected to be funded through existing budgets.
4.18 It is also recognised that there are risks to pursuing a Local Plan Update
focussed on the climate agenda. Changes to the planning system as proposed
within the Government’s White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’ may result in
national Development Management policies (as expressed through a revised
NPPF) not giving local authorities flexibility to set their own policies on the
matters proposed to be in scope for the Local Plan Update. In addition,
proposed changes to the building regulations may result in local authorities
having no scope to prescribe carbon emission rates from new development.
5.

Conclusions

5.1

Following on from Development Plan Panel in November 2020, this report
seeks to provide further material on the draft policy scope of the LPU by setting
out policy topic areas and future policy options to help address the climate
emergency. For this January meeting, officers have presented the topic areas
of flood risk, sustainable infrastructure (including HS2, digital infrastructure,
mass transit, and the airport), and strategic place-making (including patterns of
growth and 20-minute neighbourhoods).

5.2

It is recognised that these policy areas and options are presented to aid
consultation on the scope and policy extent of the LPU (Regulation 18
consultation) and that the results of that consultation will enable the Council to
establish and finalise the scope of the document. Members are asked to give
their views on the proposed policy areas contained within the report.

6.

Recommendations

Page 39

6.1

Panel Members are asked to:

(i)

Consider and provide comments on the topics presented within this report.

Page 40

Functional Floodplain

B
A

Page 41
© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019567

YOU ARE NOT PERMITTED TO COPY, SUB-LICENCE, DISTRIBUTE OR SELL ANY OF THIS DATA TO THIRD PARTIES IN ANY FORM.

PRODUCED BY CITY DEVELOPMENT, GIS MAPPING & DATA TEAM, LEEDS CITY COUNCIL Date: 11/01/2021 Scale: 1:110,000 @ A3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Nasreen Yunis. Tel:
0113 3787640

Report of Chief Planning Officer
Report to Development Plan Panel
Date: 19th January 2021
Subject: Open consultation - Supporting housing delivery and public service
infrastructure and changes to permitted development rights
Are specific electoral wards affected?

Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion
and integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): ALL

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. On the 7th December 2020 the Government commenced consultation on
‘proposed measures to support housing delivery, economic recovery, and
public service infrastructure’. The focus of the consultation is on the planning
process in particular in relation to the delivery of public infrastructure and also
on permitted development rights.
2. The consultation sets out 3 main areas for consideration and a number of
questions are set out for response. The consultation is open until 28th January
2021. This paper sets out a summary of the main issues raised and a draft
response from the Local Planning Authority, as set out in Appendix one.

Recommendations
3.

Panel Members are asked to:
(i)

Consider and provide any comments on the draft consultation response.

Page 43

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1.1 On the 7th December the Government commenced consultation on proposed
measures to support housing delivery, economic recovery, and public service
infrastructure. The consultation focuses on three main areas;
•

Supporting housing delivery through a new national permitted
development right for the change of use from the Commercial, Business
and Service use class to residential.

•

Supporting public service infrastructure through the planning system.

•

Consolidation and simplification of existing permitted development rights

1.1.2 For each of these 3 areas a number of questions are set out for consultation
response. This report provides a summary of each of the 3 areas, with an
overall response. Appendix 1 lists consultation questions and detailed
responses.
2.

Background information

2.1.1 As part of a continuing series of reforms to the planning system the Government
announced on the 20th July 2020 that new regulations would come into force
on the 1st September 2020, making radical changes to the 1987 Use Class
Order. These changes sit alongside the recent additions to permitted
development rights, forming part of the Government’s “Project Speed”, with the
aim to support high street revival and allow greater flexibility to change uses
within town centres without the need for planning permission. In addition there
are also existing wide ranging permitted development rights which have been
introduced gradually over time, this consultation seeks to consolidate these
changes.
3.

Main issues

3.1.1 The first area of the consultation relates to the New ‘E’ use Class only. From
1st September 2020 a new Commercial, Business and Service use class
(known as ‘Class E’), was introduced grouping together a range of uses
commonly found in town centres (although not exclusively in town centres),
precluding the need for a planning application. The new ‘E’ Class includes
retail, restaurant, office, financial/professional services, indoor sports, medical
and nursery uses along with “any other services which it is appropriate to
provide in a commercial, business or service locality”, such as light industrial.
This current consultation now seeks to build on this providing further flexibility
to allow premises falling within the ‘use Class E’ to change to residential use
without the need for a planning application.
3.1.2 It is proposed that the right would allow for the change of use from any use, or
mix of uses, within the Commercial, Business and Service use class (Class E)
to residential use (C3). Some change of use to residential use is already
permitted in the existing order but the new right would replace these which are
change of use from office to residential (Part 3, Class O of Schedule 2 to the
General Permitted Development Order), and from retail to residential (Part 3,

Page 44

Class M of the General Permitted Development Order) which remain in force
until 31 July 2021.
3.1.3 A number of questions are set out in the consultation which relate to conditions
which would apply to widening of permitted development rights to residential
use, these include appropriate size restrictions, where the right should apply
and matters for local consideration through prior approval.
3.1.4 In terms of the Councils overall response, the Council’s view is that the
introduction of Use Classes E introduced in September 20 has created difficulty
in the application of existing permitted development rights associated with the
use classes superseded by classes E. This has also caused difficulty in the
application of some local plan policies which in line with national guidance at
the time refer to the previous use classes. Clarity is therefore welcomed. In
relation to the additional permitted development rights to change to residential
use, whilst the principle of this is to allow flexibility of uses on the high street,
there are concerns about further loss of retail in town and local centres.
3.1.5 The second theme for consultation relates to supporting public service
infrastructure through the planning system. Further to the National
Infrastructure Strategy which (published on the 25 November 2020), this
section focuses on proposed planning reforms to speed up the delivery of
schools, colleges, hospitals and other NHS buildings, both for existing sites in
terms of permitted development rights and also for new sites. The intention is
that permitted development rights will ensure that expansion of existing sites
will be streamlined. This seeks to create a new faster process for applications
for planning permission with a view to encouraging greater prioritisation of
decision making for these public services. This new process would include, but
not be limited to, shorter timescales for determination of applications for these
sites and shortening the statutory publicity and consultation periods.
3.1.6 The consultation proposes amending the existing Class M permitted
development right (Part 7, Schedule 3, GPDO) to allow schools, colleges,
universities and hospitals to expand their facilities by up to 25% of the footprint
of the current buildings on the site, or up to 250 square meters, whichever is
greater. The buildings may be no higher than 6 meters, except where it is within
10 meters of the boundary or curtilage in which case the height limit will be 5
metres.
3.1.7 Where permitted development rights cannot be applied, a faster planning
application process for public service developments is proposed. Proposals
include the development within ’scope of the modified process’ such as
hospitals, schools and further education colleges, prisons, young offenders’
institutions, and other criminal justice accommodation. In relation to ’the scope’
a shorter determination period (of 10 weeks), modified consultation and
publicity requirements and measures to increase transparency are proposed.
3.1.8 In terms of the Councils response, public service infrastructure tends to be on
complex sites and raise multiple planning issues, including highway
considerations; it tends to be located within tight urban areas and have complex
design solutions, often these require up to 13 weeks to determine as major
planning applications. To reduce this, may cause difficulties in delivering
projects which fully address all of the planning issues. Timescales in terms of

Page 45

delivery should be realistic and achievable. A reduction in the period of
consultation also may not give local residents adequate time to respond, raising
equality concerns.
3.1.9 The third area of focus relates to consolidation and simplification of existing
permitted development rights. The changes to the Use Classes Order
introduced on the 1st September 20, have resulted in a mismatch and confusion
around the application of existing permitted development rights and this has
also created difficulties in terms of the application of some local plan policies.
The intention in the consultation is to 'simplify and rationalise those existing
rights' and bring forward the necessary amendments before 31 July 2021 (when
the transitional provisions introduced by the new use class legislation will
expire.) This will include revoking rights which have now become unnecessary
as a result of the introduction of Use Class E. Four types of permitted
development rights are identified as below;
• Category 1 - the right is no longer required. Example - Class D shops to
financial and professional.
• Category 2 - the right is unchanged by the amendments to the Use
Classes Order and therefore no amendment is necessary. For example - Class
L small HMOs to dwellinghouse and vice versa.
• Category 3 - the right may be replaced by the new proposed permitted
development right from the Commercial, Business and Service use class to
residential. For example – Class O offices to dwellinghouses.
• Category 4 - the right requires detailed consideration. There are several
rights that may fall into this category. For Example Class J retail or betting office
or pay day loan shop to assembly and leisure.
3.1.10 In terms of the Council’s general response, the proposed alignment of the Use
Class Order, and permitted development rights is necessary and welcomed
given the complexity. However any other widening of existing permitted
development rights should be the subject of further consultation. There are
already a wide range of permitted development rights, if these are increased
and added to this should be the subject of further consultation and should not
undermine the planning application process. The review and update is a
significant and complex exercise requiring consideration of those rights affected
across the entire Order and potentially this may require amendment of 49
individual rights and additional paragraphs and articles. The proposal is that in
updating these rights at the same time the opportunity will be taken to simplify
and rationalise those existing rights, and then to bring forward appropriate
legislative amendments before 31 July 2021. Appendix one sets out full
consultation questions and responses to be submitted by the 28th January.
4.

Corporate Considerations

4.1

Consultation and engagement

4.1.1 This Government consultation is currently open and ends on the 28 th January.
Following consultation there may be a technical consultation or it is expected
that appropriate legislative amendments will be introduced. This draft response

Page 46

has been produced in conjunction with colleagues in Development
Management.
4.2

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An EDCI is not required for this report. Public sector equality duty assessment
and impact assessment are set out as part of the consultation paper. Any
reduction in the statutory period of consultation from 21 days to 14 days may
reduce the scope and opportunity for public comment.
4.3

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Planning is relevant to the delivery of all the priorities in the Best Council Plan.
This consultation seeks views on changes to the planning process. It is not
policy but a consultation, however the ‘Best City Priorities’ of sustainable
infrastructure, inclusive growth and housing in particular are delivered as part
of the planning process.
4.4 Resources, procurement and value for money
4.4.1 There are no specific implications to this report as the outcome of the
consultation is not yet known. However there may be implications for planning
fees shorter and determination periods which may be impacted as part of a
streamlined process for the consideration of planning application for public
infrastructure or permitted development rights.
4.5

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

4.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
4.6

Risk management

4.6.1 This paper considers a consultation in relation to changes to the planning
process, until the detail of this is known, it is difficult to assess the impact. Any
changes to permitted development rights may have implications for planning
application activity and also reduce the scope of control from the Local Planning
Authority.
5.

Conclusions

5.1.1 This report considers a current Government consultation in relation to 3 areas
of the planning process. The changes largely relate to streamlining and fast
tracking the planning process by use of permitted development rights and the
delivery of large scale public infrastructure. It is proposed the Council support
some of the changes such as the consolidation of permitted development rights
into one ‘document’ for simplicity. Other proposals have more overarching
implications such as the potential introduction of more permitted development
rights, and faster decision-making for some types of public infrastructure for
example for hospitals and schools. There are concerns that the proposals do
not go far enough in ensuring that local impacts are accounted for in terms of
infrastructure requirements, and affordable housing, or in ensuring that local
participation in the planning process is safeguarded. Greater emphasis and

Page 47

obligation to undertake pre application engagement, in place of extensive,
controversial permitted development rights would help to maintain confidence
in the locally democratic role of Planning and provide more successful schemes
for developers and the community.
6.

Recommendations

6.1

Panel Members are asked to:
(i) Consider and provide any comments on the draft consultation response.

Page 48

Appendix 1:
1.

Supporting housing delivery through a new national permitted
development right for the change of use from the Commercial, Business
and Service use class to residential.

Q3.1 Do you agree that in managing the impact of the proposal, the matters set
out in paragraph 21 of the consultation document should be considered
in a prior approval? We would not support this approach. A full planning
consent should be required as loss of retail to residential may adversely affect
vitality and viability in some centres, and prior approval avoids contributions to
infrastructure through lost section 106 income, and affordable housing.
Q3.2 Are there any other planning matters that should be considered? The
matters in para 21 need to be supplemented to include a requirement for
national space standards to be achieved and external amenity space to be
provided or contributions to provision of nearby green space if not possible on
site
Q4.1 Do you agree that the proposed new permitted development right to
change use from Commercial, Business and Service (Class E) to
residential should attract a fee per dwellinghouse? Yes this is supported,
the prior approval process can still be time consuming and this needs to be
reflected.
Q4.2 If you agree there should be a fee per dwellinghouse, should this be set at
£96 per dwellinghouse? The fees should be the same as for per dwelling for
a planning application; the work involved in assessing the prior approval
submission is not dissimilar.
Q5. Do you have any other comments on the proposed right for the change of
use from Commercial, Business and Service use class to residential?
Residential use can often be in conflict with commercial and retail use, and as
such this should be the subject of a planning application to ensure that all issues
are considered. The number of matters proposed to be considered in the prior
approval proposed as suggested above requires full assessment and can be
locally controversial. The prior approval process precludes third party and
member involvement and erodes local democracy.
Q6.1 Do you think that the proposed right for the change of use from the
Commercial, Business and Service use class to residential could impact
on businesses, communities, or local planning authorities? LPA’s apply
different policies for town and local centres to include frontage policies for
primary and secondary primary shopping areas. The introduction and widening
of E class changes have created difficulty in the application of some local plan
policies which in line with national guidance at the time refer to the previous use
classes. Widening of permitted development rights will undermine policies.
There are often objections from the community in relation to residential use in
town and local centres and a full planning application process is supported.
Q6.2 Do you think that the proposed right for the change of use from the
Commercial, Business and Service use class to residential could give rise
to any impacts on people who share a protected characteristic? Yes there
could be equality implications, all protected characteristics could be impacted.
And there would be little opportunity for those with protected characteristics to
comment on or influence proposals dealt with by the permitted development
right.

Page 49

2.

Supporting public service infrastructure through the planning system

Q7.1 Do you agree that the right for schools, colleges and universities, and
hospitals be amended to allow for development which is not greater than
25% of the footprint, or up to 250 square metres of the current buildings
on the site at the time the legislation is brought into force, whichever is
the greater? This is not supported and is a matter of concern. This is a
significant step change and should only be allowed providing there is sufficient
supporting infrastructure to accommodate such an expansion for example
additional staff will require extra car parking or the likelihood is that this will be
displaced onto any surrounding streets. A positive is that school playing fields
will continue to be protected from development.
Q7.2 Do you agree that the right be amended to allow the height limit to be raised
from 5 metres to 6? This assumes that the existing PD right does not cause
any planning harm, clearly it can have a negative impact. The greater the
flexibility the more potential there is to cause more harm without some form of
control. Often, these types of public buildings are nestled closely to other, often
residential land uses where space is at a premium. To ease increase the height
of building albeit except where it is within 10 metres of the boundary or curtilage,
is still a considerable change and where no consideration is given to aspect or
changes in land levels.
Q7.4 Do you agree that prisons should benefit from the same right to expand or
add additional buildings? On the face of it, this would seem less harmful as
these buildings are already usually secured by high and extensive solid
perimeter boundary treatment, therefore, public views tend to be limited or
restricted. For obvious reasons, there is usually sufficient separation space
from other surrounding land uses.
Q8. Do you have any other comments about the permitted development rights
for schools, colleges, universities, hospitals and prisons? Public service
infrastructure tends to be on complex sites and raise multiple planning issues
to include highway considerations, tend to be located within tight urban areas
and have complex design solutions, often these require up to 13 weeks. To
reduce this down, may cause difficulties in delivering positive projects.
Timescales in terms of delivery should be realistic and achievable.
Q9.1 Do you think that the proposed amendments to the right in relation to
schools, colleges and universities, and hospitals could impact on
businesses, communities, or local planning authorities? The proposals for
public buildings are not supported as these will result in a further erosion and
squeeze on the planning process reducing / removing the democratic element
of planning with more PD rights going hand in hand with shorter consultation
periods both for statutory consultees and the public.
Q9.2 Do you think that the proposed amendments to the right in relation to
schools, colleges and universities, and hospitals could give rise to any
impacts on people who share a protected characteristic? A reduction in
the period of consultation may not give local residents adequate time to

Page 50

respond, raising equality concerns. Often large scale public infrastructure can
cause local concern, and this needs to be considered.
Q10.1 Do you think that the proposed amendment to allow prisons to benefit
from the right could impact on businesses, communities, or local
planning authorities? This would be negligible for the reasons set out above.
Q10.2 Do you think that the proposed amendment in respect of prisons could
give rise to any impacts on people who share a protected characteristic?
Often large scale public infrastructure can also cause local concern, and this
needs to be considered. Impact of projects should be given due regard as part
of the planning process, this will allow the public and those affected to
participate in the planning process.
Q11 Do you agree that the new public service application process, as set out in
paragraphs 43 and 44 of the consultation document, should only apply to
major development (which are not EIA developments)? This is not
supported as non major schemes can be as equally contentious to local
communities and such developments need to provide appropriate supporting
infrastructure to mitigate against potential impacts.
Q13 Do you agree the determination period for applications falling within the
scope of the modified process should be reduced to 10 weeks? This is not
supported, as set out above, large public infrastructure projects are often
complex and contentious, and can also be on sites which are often in tight urban
areas and public facing.
Q14. Do you agree the minimum consultation/publicity period should be
reduced to 14 days? A reduction in the period of consultation may not give
local residents adequate time to respond, raising equality concerns. In addition
14 days is too short a period of consultation to allow the community to comment.
Impact of projects should be given due regard as part of the planning process.
Q15 Do you agree the Secretary of State should be notified when a valid
planning application is first submitted to a local planning authority and
when the authority it anticipates making a decision? If the process is
streamlined to include adequate and meaningful pre application discussion and
can be automated as to not place an extra burden on the LPA, then this is
supported.
Q16 Do you agree that the policy in paragraph 94 of the NPPF should be
extended to require local planning authorities to engage proactively to
resolve key planning issues of other public service infrastructure projects
before applications are submitted? Para 94 of the NPPF states ‘It is
important that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs
of existing and new communities. Local planning authorities should take a
proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and
to development that will widen choice in education; a) give great weight to the
need to create, expand or alter schools through the preparation of plans and
decisions on applications; and b) work with schools promoters, delivery
partners and statutory bodies to identify and resolve key planning issues before
applications are submitted’. This is supported and is is key to ensure that
complex planning issues are considered prior to the approval of a planning
application and not left to be resolved at the planning application stage.

Page 51

Q17.1 Do you have any comments on the other matters set out in this
consultation document, including post-permission matters, guidance and
planning fees? No
Q17.2 Do you have any other suggestions on how these priority public service
infrastructure projects should be prioritised within the planning system?
Local democracy and public involvement should not be removed / diminished
as these tend to be complex and locally contentious issues. Early dialogue and
pre application guidance with the LPA is encouraged.
Q18 Do you think that the proposed amendments to the planning applications
process for public service infrastructure projects could give rise to any
impacts on people who share a protected characteristic? Often large scale
public infrastructure can cause local concern, and this needs to be considered.
Impact of projects should be given due regard as part of the planning process,
especially if the consultation period is to be reduced. Public Infrastructure
projects play an important role in local communities in providing vital
infrastructure and public engagement should be a part of that process.
3.

Consolidation and simplification of existing permitted development rights

Q19.1 Do you agree with the broad approach to be applied to the review and
update of existing permitted development rights in respect of categories
1,2 and 3 outlined in paragraph 76 of the consultation document? The
proposed alignment of the UCO and Permitted Development Rights is
necessary, given the complexity. However any other widening of the existing
rights should be the subject of consultation as these can have a significant
impact on local communities.
Q19.2 Are there any additional issues that we should consider? All efforts should
be made to further rationalise the permitted development rights to provide
greater clarity and certainly for developers and third parties. Complex Prior
Approval processes does little to address the perception of a bureaucratic
planning system and does not streamline processes.
Q20 Do you agree that uses, such as betting shops and pay day loan shops, that
are currently able to change use to a use now within the Commercial,
Business and Service use class should be able to change use to any use
within that class? This would be reasonable given the range of commercial
uses all now uses within class E including shops and financial services that are
typically found on the high street. Changes to uses no longer in the assembly
and leisure class and not within new class E may have more impact and so
permission should be required. Changes to betting shops and pay day loan
shops should continue be the controlled through the planning application
process.
Q21 Do you agree the broad approach to be applied in respect of category 4
outlined in paragraph 76 of the consultation document? Yes the broad
approach of trying to simplify PD rights is supported, and that should be the
main aim; as paragraph 49 points out, the review and update is a complex
exercise due to the existing number of rights and articles involved.
Q22 Do you have any other comments about the consolidation and
simplification of existing permitted development rights? Previous attempts

Page 52

to ‘streamline’ the planning system by introducing PD rights have led to a far
more complicated system that is difficult for applicant and the local authorities
to engage with. The simplification should include greater clarity and certainty
by the reduction of complex prior approval processes. There are concerns that
the proposals do not go far enough in ensuring that local impacts are accounted
for in terms of infrastructure requirements, and affordable housing, or in
ensuring that local participation in the planning process is safeguarded. Greater
emphasis and obligation to undertake pre application engagement, in place of
the extensive, controversial permitted development rights would help to
maintain confidence in the locally democratic role of Planning and provide more
successful schemes for developers and the community.

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

